LG/16/22

16th Meeting of the London Group on Environmental Accounting Santiago, 25 – 28 October 2010

A common currency for building environmental (ecosystem) accounts

Peter Cosier and Jane McDonald (Wentworth Group)

PAPER PREPARED FOR THE 16TH MEETING OF THE LONDON GROUP ON ENVIRONMENTAL ACCOUNTING 25 - 28 October 2010

SANTIAGO, CHILE

A Common Currency for Building Environmental (Ecosystem) Accounts

A proposed standard for Environmental (Ecosystem) Accounting for the international 'System of integrated Environmental and Economic Accounts'

Peter Cosier and Jane McDonald

Wentworth Group of Concerned Scientists

Peter Cosier is a member and Director of the Wentworth Group of Concerned Scientists. pcosier@wentworthgroup.org

Jane McDonald is the Policy and Research Analyst for the Wentworth Group of Concerned Scientists. jmcdonald@wentworthgroup.org

Wentworth Group of Concerned Scientists is an independent science and economics policy institute based in Sydney, Australia.

http://www.wentworthgroup.org/

Acknowledgements

The concepts expressed in this paper have been derived from *Accounting for Nature: A Model for Building the National Environmental Accounts of Australia, 2008*, and *Accounting Metrics for Building Regionally Based National Environmental Accounts, 2009.* The authors thank members Dr Neil Byron, Dr Ronnie Harding, Prof. Quentin Grafton, Prof. Bruce Thom and Dr John Williams their contributions and review of this paper.

In addition we thank Mr Mark Eigenraam, Ms Pam Green and Dr Michael Vardon for their contributions to this paper.

Table of Contents

Abstract
1. Introduction
2. A Common Currency for Nature
3. Reference Condition Benchmarks7
4. Ecosystem Health Indicators
5. Accounting Standards and Scientific Accreditation of Indicators
6. Environmental (Ecosystem) Accounts
7. Regional Environmental Accounts Trials in Australia
8. Conclusion
Notes and References

Abstract

Environmental (ecosystem) accounts that measure the health and change in condition of ecosystems are required to integrate the environment in decision making.

If you don't measure it, you can't manage it. A science-based unit of account – a common currency for ecosystems – is the missing link between science and policy.

Creating a measure for ecosystem health must address a number of challenges: no two environmental assets are the same; often different indicators are needed to measure the same asset in different locations; the cost of data collection creates significant variation in the quality of information collected; and no single indicator can provide a complete picture of ecosystem health.

There is no doubt that modern science is capable of providing this information. What is needed is a system of accounts that systematically organises that information.

A system of environmental (ecosystem) accounts should be built around a common unit of measure which is capable of assigning a value for all environmental assets and indicators of ecosystem health.

The adoption of a system of environmental (ecosystem) accounts based on reference condition benchmarks creates this common currency for ecosystem health. This means that an environmental asset, such as a forest, can have both a monetary value and an ecological value. The result is a transparent system of accounting where the impact of economic activity (both positive and negative) on environmental health can actually be measured.

1. Introduction

- 1. In 1993 a handbook for integrated environmental and economic accounting was published by UNEP and the World Bank¹ as a way of responding to concerns about the impact of economic growth on the health of the world's ecosystems.^{2,3,4} This was updated in 2003 by the UN, EU, IMF and OEDC into a draft framework for "statistical accounts ... of the interaction between the economy and the environment".⁵
- 2. This formed the basis of the international "System of integrated Environmental and Economic Accounts" (SEEA) which employs the same accounting concepts and account structures as the national accounts.⁶ It enables stocks and flows of environmental assets to be represented in physical as well as financial units.
- 3. To date the emphasis in SEEA has been on measuring the economic impact of resource depletion, reflecting perhaps its origins from the Club of Rome.² Revealing the prices associated with stocks and flows of physical assets is an important step towards more efficient use of natural resources; it can tell us how efficiently natural resources are being used to support our economy and how this activity impacts on the stocks of those physical assets.
- 4. The management of our environment is not just about the rate or economic efficiency of resource depletion. We must also manage the health of ecosystems. I
- 5. f environmental accounting is to contribute to the sustainable management of the world's natural environment, it must be able to measure the impact economic activity is having on the health of ecosystems.
- 6. SEEA recognises "that the 'health' of ecosystems must be protected and enhanced if they are to exhibit the resilience that is necessary for sustainability".⁷ Physical units of measure (weights, volumes, area) are not, however, capable of accounting for ecosystem health because ecosystems are " ... a dynamic complex of plant, animal and micro-organism communities and their non-living environment interacting as a functional unit".⁸
- 7. In Australia, water accounts⁹ are being used to evaluate economically efficient ways of returning overallocated river systems in the Murray Darling Basin to sustainable levels of extraction.¹⁰ What these accounts are not currently able to do is measure the condition (or 'health') of this river system. They are therefore of little value in determining the primary public policy question as to what the sustainable level of extraction should be.
- What is needed is a science-based unit of measure to account for the health of ecosystems. This is the missing link between science and policy: if you don't measure it, you can't manage it.
- 9. SEEA describes the difficulties in establishing environmental accounts for ecosystems: "determining a suitable unit of account, deciding how to deal with the collective nature of a complete ecosystem, delineating the borderline of the ecosystem of interest and defining the extent of possible duplication when an entity interacts with more that one ecosystem."¹¹
- 10. In this paper we describe a common unit of measure for ecosystem health and a process for aggregating existing scientific information to create a standard for ecosystem health based environmental accounts.^{1.}

A COMMON CURRENCY FOR BUILDING ENVIRONMENTAL (ECOSYSTEM) ACCOUNTS

¹ For the purposes of this paper we consider 'Environmental Accounts' described in *Accounting for Nature* to be synonymous with 'Ecosystem Accounts' in SEEA. For that reason, in this paper we use 'environmental (ecosystem) accounts'.

2. A Common Currency for Nature

- 11. National accounts are built using a national currency (a Dollar, Yuan, Euro, etc) which assigns a common value for the exchange of goods and services. Without a common currency it is not possible to construct economic accounts.
- 12. While it is possible to express many physical environmental assets as quantities, there is no established unit for measuring the health (quality) of ecosystems.^{12,13,14,15}
- 13. The starting point for building a system of environmental (ecosystem) accounts is dependent on the creation of a common unit of measure that is capable of assigning a value for all environmental assets and indicators of ecosystem health.
- 14. Creating a measure for ecosystem health must address a number of challenges: no two environmental assets are the same; often different indicators are needed to measure the same asset in different locations; the cost of data collection creates significant variation in the quality of information collected; and no single indicator can provide a complete picture of ecosystem health.
- 15. In 2008, the Wentworth Group of Concerned Scientists, in association with other scientists and economists, developed a model for building a system of National Environmental Accounts. This *Accounting for Nature* model¹⁶ creates a common unit of account for all environmental assets and indicators of ecosystem health, irrespective of the unit of measurement. It does this by using the science of reference condition benchmarks.
- 16. The common currency for environmental (ecosystem) accounts does not imply a monetary value: it is simply a scientific method for standardising the measurement of environmental assets so that we can compare the relative state of one asset with another and aggregate information at different scales and for different assets.
- 17. This methodology plots the condition of all environmental assets and indicators of ecosystem condition on a common scale (stocks), and measures how each is tracking towards or away from a healthy condition over time (flows).²
- 18. In this paper we describe a four stage process for establishing a standard for *environmental (ecosystem) accounts.*
 - 1. Adopt *reference condition benchmarks* as the scientific standard for accounting for all environmental assets and indicators of ecosystem health;
 - 2. Develop scientifically accredited methods for combining *ecosystem health indicators,* based on reference condition benchmarks;
 - 3. Develop *standards for ecosystem accounts and scientific accreditation of ecosystem indicators*, and
 - 4. Use the ecosystem health indicators as the standard for incorporating *environmental (ecosystem) accounts* into the "System of integrated Environmental and Economic Accounts".

² For the purposes of environmental accounts in this paper we treat the condition (or health) of an environmental asset or ecosystem indicator as a 'stock', and a change in condition of that asset or indicator as a 'flow'.²

3. Reference Condition Benchmarks

- 19. This model for environmental (ecosystem) accounts is based on the science of reference condition benchmarks. Reference condition is the status of an ecosystem's components as they would be if significant human intervention had not occurred in the landscape.¹⁷
- 20. Describing the existing stock of an environmental asset against a reference condition benchmark does not imply or suggest that landscapes should be returned to this predisturbance condition. Reference condition benchmarks simply provide a common base to measure change against a common denominator.
- 21. Reference condition accounting is used extensively in the scientific literature to describe a standard or benchmark against which to compare the condition of an environmental asset or ecosystem.¹⁸ It is also an appropriate measure for describing where ecosystems are approaching critical thresholds, which are common in complex ecosystems.^{19,2021,22}
- 22. A reference condition score is a numerical comparison of an observed condition and that expected under a reference condition.¹⁷ It is a number between 0 and 100, where 100 is a reference condition of an ecosystem as it would be had significant human intervention not occurred in the landscape, and 0 is where that ecosystem function is absent.
- 23. For example, the area of habitat is the single most effective surrogate of biodiversity.²³ One indicator of the condition of a terrestrial ecosystem is the extent of native vegetation cover. The change in percentage of native vegetation can be directly related to a change in biodiversity.^{24.} If there has been a decline in native vegetation in a region by 72% against a benchmark condition, that indicator would produce a reference condition score of 28(%).
- 24. Reference condition metrics are used as a scientific benchmark for ecosystem management for several reasons:²⁵
 - Ecosystems approaching conditions that prevailed prior to major periods of modification will generally better reflect the conditions to which persistent communities of native biota are adapted,²⁶
 - 2. Ecosystems are more resilient within their historical range of variation than ecosystems managed outside this range;^{27,28}
 - 3. It is a pragmatic approach for assessing and managing ecosystems where data for communities and species or processes are lacking, or such data cannot be collected within the constraints of rapid assessment,²⁹
 - 4. Ecosystems are assessed in relative rather than absolute terms, thereby avoiding the perverse situation where ecosystems that are naturally more structurally diverse or species rich are always assessed as in higher condition than ecosystems that are naturally less structurally diverse or species rich; and
 - 5. There is empirical evidence to support the concept.^{30,31}
- 25. Whilst a number of published definitions for reference condition exist, they all feature the common ecological principle that a healthy ecosystem can be described against a standard pre-disturbance baseline. ^{17,25,18, 32}
- 26. The reference condition can be a fixed point in time,³³observed at reference condition sites,³⁴ or a scientifically accredited model that estimates the naturalness of the biota in the absence of significant human alteration.¹⁸

4. Ecosystem Health Indicators

- 27. The task of accounting for the complexity of ecosystems is made possible by using the science of ecosystem health indicators. Ecosystem health indicators are quantifiable and transparent measures of the characteristics of the ecosystem that can detect change. With careful selection, they are capable of providing a simple measure for a complex system.³⁵
- 28. The advantage of using ecosystem health indicators based on reference condition benchmarks is that it provides a context for interpreting change, and the magnitude and direction of that change.³⁶
- 29. In order to capture the complexity of an ecosystem into numerical values, several indicators may need to be integrated to generate an index.³⁷ Standard accounting practices can be used to express this index, again on a scale between 0 and 100. Ecosystem condition indices could be generated by:
 - using the available ecosystem indicator relative to its reference condition;
 - summing a number of individual reference condition scores expressed as a percentage;³⁸
 - combining scientifically accredited weighted indicators;³⁹ or
 - incorporating individual reference condition scores into scientific models, where those models best describe the complexity of the ecosystem processes being measured.⁴⁸
- 30. Applying a reference condition benchmark to an ecosystem indicator converts that indicator from being simply a measure of trends in ecosystem characteristics to a valuation of ecosystem health. It is a measure of status and current deviation from healthy condition.⁴⁰
- 31. Ecosystem health indicators based on reference condition benchmarks are also conducive to statistical accounting because they create a standardised numerical unit capable of addition and comparison. They can assess and compare ecosystem status across regions and across ecosystems, upscale and aggregate across multiple spatial scales.⁴⁰
- 32. In the same way that nations describe their economic currencies with a title (a Dollar, Yuan, Euro, etc), it is also useful to give the unit of measure for ecosystem health a title. In this paper we call the unit of measure for ecosystem health an *Econd*.
- 33. An *Econd* is an accredited measure, metric or model between 0 and 100 that reflects the health of an environmental asset or an ecosystem indicator based on a reference condition benchmark.
- 34. Ecosystem health indicators using reference condition methodologies were pioneered through the study of rivers, where there is a complex interaction of spatial, temporal and physical variation.^{41,42,43} The reference condition approach for freshwater ecosystem assessment has been adopted by many countries because it allows different water bodies in different locations, including rivers, lakes or coastal waters to be compared on a common scale.^{44,45,46}
- 35. This reference condition approach has now also been applied to terrestrial landscapes^{47,48,49,50} and marine ecosystems.^{51,52,53,54.}

36. There are many examples in Australia and internationally that use reference condition based ecosystem health indicators. Examples from Europe and North America include:

- a legislated reference condition standard in EU countries (through the EU Water Framework Directive) for the ecological assessment of all EU water bodies,^{55,56,} (this concept is currently being transferred across Europe to soil ecosystem assessment and monitoring),⁵⁷
- river assessment systems in Britain (River Invertebrate Prediction and Classification System (RIVPACS))⁵⁸ and the Canadian Aquatic Biomonitoring Network;⁵⁹
- ecosystem indices (Index of Biotic Integrity⁶⁰) have become the standard in the United States for assessing watershed health;⁶¹ and
- fisheries management strategies which use an 'unfished biomass' benchmark to measure the current stock relative to that reference condition, set maximum sustainable yield levels and to identify thresholds of collapse.⁶²
- 37. Examples in Australia include:
 - the Australian River Assessment System (AUSRIVAS);⁶³
 - the 2008 Sustainable Rivers Audit for the Murray Darling Basin;¹⁷
 - the 2009 Great Barrier Reef Outlook Report;⁶⁴
 - farm scale assessments of native vegetation in NSW⁶⁵ and Victoria;⁴⁸ and
 - the South East Queensland Ecosystem Health Monitoring Program.³⁸

5. Accounting Standards and Scientific Accreditation of Indicators

- 38. Fundamental to the acceptance of environmental (ecosystem) accounting will be the level of confidence that the information being collected and choice of ecosystem health indicators is scientifically robust, accurate and reliable, and comparable across time and space.
- 39. Environmental (ecosystem) accounting standards will be required to guarantee the quality of data collection and a formal scientific accreditation process is required to ensure that the selection of indicators are suitable measures of the key environmental assets at the scale and location in which the accounts are constructed.
- 40. A starting point for the criteria for establishing ecosystem health indicators would be to adopt a universally accepted scientific principle that a healthy ecosystem has three attributes:⁶⁶
 - *vigour*, which refers to the level of productivity or "pulse" of an ecosystem;
 - *organisation*, which refers to the structure or number of interactions within an ecosystem (healthy ecosystems have many interactions complex food webs whereas disturbed systems are highly simplified and have fewer interactions); and
 - *resilience*, which refers to an ecosystem's ability to recover following disturbance (healthy ecosystems "bounce back" after a disturbance, unhealthy ones do not).
- 41. These factors underpin our understanding of ecosystem health because they reflect those components of an ecosystem that are linked to vital processes and function.

- 42. At a national level, governments might establish a scientific accreditation body to:
 - accredit monitoring and reporting standards (including rules for selection of indicators and consistency of ranking systems);
 - oversee audits of data collection; and
 - accredit state, regional and local accounts as satisfying monitoring and reporting standards.
- 43. At the international level, the London Group could contribute by developing guidelines for producing regional and national environmental (ecosystem) accounts using reference condition benchmarks to construct ecosystem health indicators. These guidelines could become the standard in the SEEA.
- 44. Initial attempts have already been made addressing these concepts in the SEEA framework. For example, the SEEA water account explores the possibility for water quality indices, including reference condition based ecosystem health indicators such as the Water Framework Directive, to populate the water quality account.⁶⁷

6. Environmental (Ecosystem) Accounts

- 45. The adoption of ecosystem health indicators as the standard unit of measure for environmental (ecosystem) accounts establishes the conceptual framework for incorporating ecosystem stock and flow accounting into the System of integrated Environmental and Economic Accounts.
- 46. The scale of such accounts is determined by the resolution of the data collected for each indicator. With sufficient data, environmental (ecosystem) accounts can be constructed at any scale, and aggregated into property, catchment, regional, national and international accounts.
- 47. An accounting standard based on ecosystem health indicators produces multiple benefits for environmental accounts:
 - 1. It measures the state (stock) and change in condition over time (flow) of an environmental asset in the context of ecosystem health (quality);
 - 2. It provides a standard for comparison between indicators for all environmental assets and ecosystems. This makes it possible to compare an environmental asset in one locality with the same asset in another even when different indicators are used, and compare the relative health of one environmental asset to another;
 - 3. Because reference condition scores and ecosystem health indicators numerically codify environmental information on a common scale (between 0 to 100), site specific data can be used to generate accounts at different scales including property, catchment, regional, national and international accounts;
 - 4. It drives significant cost efficiencies in data collection, because it:
 - allows areas under intense environmental pressure to be measured with greater precision than areas under less pressure without diminishing the ability of the accounts to compare one location with another;
 - enables indicators to be determined at any scale, time and space, rather than requiring the collection of a raft of data to satisfy all user needs across a country; and

- uses the vast array of environmental information that has already been collected over the decades for various purposes; and
- 5. They can evolve in their sophistication over time as the quality of data improves with knowledge and technology.
- 48. The proposed system of environmental (ecosystem) accounts has the potential to significantly improve the quality of environmental decisions, in different ways, at multiple scales:
 - 1. *Information*: environmental (ecosystem) accounts provide the ability to produce regular Environmental Health Reports which describe the state and any change to the condition of key environmental assets and ecosystems over time;
 - 2. *Policy*: environmental (ecosystem) accounts provide a transparent system of accounting that informs policy trade-offs (both positive and negative) between economic development and environmental health; and
 - 3. *Investment*: the '*Econd*' environmental currency enables traditional tools, such as cost/benefit analysis and multi-criteria analysis, to evaluate the cost-effectiveness of investments in environmental management.
- 49. Alfieri, Havinga and Webb (2010) argue that Volume 1 of the revised SEEA should provide a framework for the economic approach to the environment, where it measures the intersection between the economy and the environment, and that Volume 2 should focus on "ecosystems, ecosystem services and their valuation as well as valuation of degradation that is the changes in quality of the environment."⁶⁸
- 50. We support this proposal and suggest that:
 - Volume 1 of SEEA be called Integrated Environmental Economic Accounts, and
 - Volume 2 of SEEA be called Environmental (Ecosystem) Accounts.
- 51. If acceptable, Volume 2, the Environmental (Ecosystem) Accounts, would populate condition (stock) and change (flow) tables with the indices of ecosystem health.

7. Regional Environmental Accounts Trials in Australia

- 52. While there have been many attempts to systematically measure the condition of environmental assets and ecosystems,^{69,70} few have succeeded in providing comprehensive mechanisms that regularly measure and report on the state and change in condition of environmental assets or ecosystems.
- 53. As a consequence, those charged with managing the environment do not have the information they need to inform effective land use and environmental policy, nor make informed investment decisions.
- 54. In an effort to address what we consider to be one of the great failures of environmental policy, a trial of Regional Environmental (Ecosystem) Accounts is to be conducted across Australia, using the accounting principles described in the *Accounting for Nature* model.
- 55. The accounts will be produced regionally because it is the scale that best reflects the biogeographic uniqueness of the Australian landscape and it is the scale at which the majority of environmental management policy is determined.

- 56. Regional Environmental Accounts trials will be conducted in up to 12 of the 56 natural resource management regions across Australia. They will use reference condition benchmarks to construct ecosystem health indicators as a basis for building Regional Environmental (Ecosystem) Accounts.
- 57. These trials aim to produce four specific products:
 - 1. A draft manual of procedures or methods for producing regional environmental accounts;
 - 2. A standard for using reference condition benchmarks and ecosystem health indicators for environmental (ecosystem) accounts;
 - 3. A set of Environmental (Ecosystem) Accounts for each region; and
 - 4. A Regional Environmental Health Report which will interpret the information discovered in the accounts.
- 58. These trials will be co-ordinated through a national Regional Environmental Accounts Working Group, and will be supported by a range of experts including scientists, economists, land managers, professionals in the regional natural resource management bodies and the Wentworth Group of Concerned Scientists.
- 59. The regional natural resource management groups have decided to run these trials because monitoring, evaluation, and reporting is an integral part of their charter, and the quality of their decisions is dependent on the quality of information they have to inform those decisions.
- 60. A technical environmental accounting committee will be established in each region to select indicators of each asset type (land, water, marine), access the data and produce the accounts. A scientific review process will be established to develop a standard for reference condition benchmarks and to accredit ecosystem health indicators in each region as being suitable measures of the key environmental assets of those regions.
- 61. The first set of regional accounts will draw on existing data wherever possible to create the environmental (ecosystem) stock accounts, and use time series information to establish historical trend (flow) accounts.
- 62. These trials will test, at a regional (landscape) scale, whether the Environmental (Ecosystem) Accounts framework described in this paper can be incorporated into the international System of integrated Environmental and Economic Accounts, and whether regional accounts are able to be aggregated to construct State and National Environmental (Ecosystem) Accounts.

8. Conclusion

- 63. Ecosystems are complex, which is why measuring environmental quality is so difficult. But if we don't have an accounting system that systematically describes the condition of ecosystems, it is not possible to measure the impact of an economic activity on that ecosystem, nor is it possible to evaluate where to best invest resources to protect or improve the health of these systems.
- 64. We need to manage the environment with the same discipline with which we manage our economy.
- 65. There is no doubt that modern science is capable of providing the required information. There are decades of science dedicated to developing methods of measuring the health of ecosystems so that different assets and different indicators can be compared.
- 66. These tasks are being made easier by technology. Satellites, computers, and the Internet have made it possible to choose from a range of possible ecosystem health indicators, and we are only at the beginning of this environmental information revolution. Satellites with photographic resolutions of two metres are now readily available,⁷¹ Lidar and radar measurements are coming on line which can respectively measure forest structures and observe forest cover change through cloud.⁷²
- 67. The science of reference condition based ecosystem indicators provides what economics already have a common currency.
- 68. What is needed is a system of environmental (ecosystem) accounts that systematically organises that information and procedures to accredit the ecosystem health currency.
- 69. Regional natural resource management groups within Australia will trial these methods to build regional environmental accounts. The trials will use existing data, and use ecosystem indicators against a reference condition benchmark to measure the state and change in condition of their environmental assets. These trials should inform the London Group process on the practical application of environmental (ecosystem) accounting.
- 70. The London Group is well placed to co-ordinate and develop the international guidelines for how to build these environmental (ecosystem) accounts for SEEA. The common currency will resolve many of the barriers hindering ecosystem accounting to date.
- 71. Adopting a system of environmental (ecosystem) accounts based on reference condition benchmarks to create a common currency for ecosystem health will mean that an environmental asset, such as a forest, can have both a monetary value and an ecological value. This will create a transparent system of accounting where the impact of economic activity (both positive and negative) on environmental health can actually be measured.
- 72. The environmental accounts will offer different applications to different users; link economic activity to environmental change, compare the health of assets, determine where to invest to manage the environment, how to maximise economic outputs for least environmental impact etc. With a common currency, environmental accounts provide decision-makers access to better information. Hopefully we will make better decisions.

Notes and References

- ¹ United Nations, 1993. SNA Handbook on Integrated Environmental and Economic Accounting, Statistical Office of the United Nations, Series F, No. 61, New York.
- ² Meadows, D.H, D. L. Meadows, J. Randers, and W. W. Behrens III, 1972. The Limits of Growth. A Report for The Club of Rome's Project on the Predicament of Mankind. Universe Books, New York.
- ³ World Commission on Environment and Development, 1987. Our Common Future, Report of the World Commission on Environment and Development. Published as Annex to General Assembly document A/42/427, Development and International Co-operation: Environment.
- ⁴ United Nations, 1993. Agenda 21: Earth Summit The United Nations Programme of Action from Rio. *Integrating Environment and Development in Decision-making*, Ch8.
- ⁵ United Nations, European Union, International Monetary Fund, Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, 2003. *Integrated Environmental and Economic Accounting*. Handbook of National Accounting, Ch1, p1.
- ⁶ Commission of the European Communities, International Monetary Fund. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, United Nations and World Bank, 1993. System of National Accounts 1993. Luxembourg, Washington DC, Paris, New York.
- ⁷ As for note 5, p3
- ⁸ Convention on Biological Diversity, 1992. *The United Nations Conference on Environment and Development* (the Rio "Earth Summit") www.cbd.int/convention/articles.shtml?a=cbd-02
- ⁹ Vardon, M., Lenzen, M., Peevor, S. and Creaser, M. (2007) Water Accounting in Australia. *Ecological Economics* 61: 650-659.
- ¹⁰ Council of Australian Governments, 2004. Intergovernmental Agreement on a National Water Initiative, and *Water Act 2007*.
- ¹¹ As for note 5, Ch7, p301.
- ¹² As for note 5, p258
- ¹³ Weber, J., 2003. Development of Land and Ecosystem Accounts in Europe: Implementation of land cover accounts. *London Group meeting*. Rome.
- ¹⁴ Weber, J., 2007. Implementation of land and ecosystem accounts at the European Environmental Agency. *Ecological Economics*. 61: 695-707.
- ¹⁵ Weber, J., 2007. Land and ecosystem accounts in the SEEA revision. *London Group meeting*, Brussels.
- ¹⁶ Wentworth Group of Concerned Scientists, 2008. *Accounting for Nature: A Model for Building the National Environmental Accounts of Australia.* May 2008.
- ¹⁷ Davies, P.E., J.H. Harris, T.J. Hillman and K.F. Walker, 2008. Sustainable Rivers Audit Report 1: A Report on the Ecological Health of Rivers in the Murray–Darling Basin, 2004–2007. Prepared by the Independent Sustainable Rivers Audit Group for the Murray–Darling Basin Ministerial Council.
- ¹⁸ Stoddard, J.L, Larsen, D.P, Hawkins, C.P., Johnson, R.K. and Norris, R.H., 2006. Setting expectation for the ecological condition of streams: A concept of reference condition. *Ecological Applications.* 16(4): 1267-1276.
- ¹⁹ Raudsepp-Hearne, C., Peterson, G.D., Tengo, M., Bennet, E.M., Holland, T., Benessaiah, K., MacDonald, G.K and Pfeifer, L., 2010. Untangling the environmentalist's paradox: Why is human well-being increasing as ecosystem services degrade? *Bioscience*. 60(8): 576-589.
- ²⁰ Chapin, F.S. III, Zavaleta, E.S., Valerie, S., Eviner, T., Naylor, R.L., Vitousek, P.M., Reynolds, H.L., Hooper, D.U., Lavorel, S., Sala, O.E., Hobbie, S.E., Mack, M.C., and Sandra Díaz. 2000. Consequences of changing biodiversity. *Nature*, 405, 234-242
- ²¹ Scheffer, M., Carpenter, S., Foley, J.A. and Walker, B., 2001. Catastrophic shifts in ecosystems. *Nature*, 413: 591-596.
- ²² Walker, B., and J.A.Meyers. 2004. Thresholds in ecological and social-ecological systems: A developing database. *Ecology and Society*, 9: 3.

- ²³ Turner, I. M. 2005. Landscape ecology: What is the state of the science? Annual Reviews of *Ecology, Evolution and Systematics,* 36: 319-344.
- ²⁴ Rosenzweig, M. L., 1995. Species diversity in space and time. Cambridge University Press, Melbourne.
- ²⁵ Gibbons, P., Briggs, S.V., Ayers, D.A., Doyle, S, Seddon, J., McElhinny, C., Jones, N., Sims, R., and Doody, J.S., 2008. Rapidly quantifying reference conditions in modified landscapes. *Biological Conservation* 141: 2483 –2493.
- ²⁶ Landres, P.B., Morgan, P., Swanson, F.J., 1999. Overview of the use of natural variability concepts in managing ecological systems. *Ecological Applications*, 9: 1179–1188.
- ²⁷ Fule, P.Z., Covington, W.W., Moore, M.M., 1997. Determining reference conditions for ecosystem management of southwestern ponderosa pine forests. *Ecological Applications*, 7: 895–908.
- ²⁸ Holling, C.S., Meffe, G.K., 1996. Command and control and the pathology of natural resource management. *Conservation Biology*, 10: 327–328.
- ²⁹ Gibbons, P., Briggs, S.V., Ayers, D.A., Seddon, J.A., Doyle, S.J., Cosier, P., McElhinny, C., Pelly, V., Roberts, K., 2009. An operational method to assess impacts of land clearing on terrestrial biodiversity. *Ecological Indicators*, 9: 26–40.
- ³⁰ Laughlin, D.C., Bakker, J.D., Stoddard, M.T., Daniels, M.L., Springer, J.D., Gildar, C.N., Green, A.M., Covington, W.W., 2004. Toward reference conditions: wildfire effects on flora in an old-growth ponderosa pine forest. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 199: 137–152.
- ³¹ Whiteley, J., Bendell-Young, L., 2007. Ecological implications of intertidal mariculture: observed differences in bivalve community structure between farm and reference sites. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 44: 495–505.
- ³² Reference condition for fisheries stocks (mean equilibrium unfished biomass): "average biomass level if fishing had not occurred. Sometimes the pre-exploitation level is used as a proxy". (Australian Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry. 2007. Commonwealth Fisheries Harvest Strategy – Policy and Guidelines).
- ³³ For example, Australia often uses a 'pre-European settlement' date of 1750 (Norris, R.H. and M. Thomas, 1999. What is river health? *Freshwater Biology*. 41:197-210), North America uses a 'pre-Columbian' benchmark (Hughes, R. M., P. R. Kaufmann, A. T. Herlihy, T. M. Kincaid, L. Reynolds, and D. P. Larsen. 1998. A process for developing and evaluating indices of fish assemblage integrity. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 55: 1618–1631) and Europe uses a 'pre-intensive agriculture' date. For Great Britain this has been defined as approx. 1850 (Wallin, M., T.Wiederholm, and R.K.Johnson, 2003. Final guidance on establishing reference conditions and ecological status class boundaries for inland surface waters. EU Common Implementation Strategy (CIS) for the Water Framework Directive.
- ³⁴ Reynoldson, T.B., Norris, R.H., Resh, V.H., Day,K.E., & Rosenberg, D., 1997. The reference condition: a comparison of multimetric and multivariate approaches to assess water-quality impairment using benthic macro-invertebrates. *Journal of North American Benthological Society*, 16: 833-852.
- ³⁵ Karr, J., 2006. Measuring Biological Condition, Protecting Biological Integrity. In: *Principles of Conservation Biology*, Third Edition, by Martha J. Groom, Gary K. Meffe, C. Ronald Carroll, and contributors, published by Sinauer Associates.
- ³⁶ Andreasen, J.K, O'Neill, R.V., Noss, R., and Slosser, N.C., 2001. Considerations for the development of a terrestrial index of ecological integrity. *Ecological Indicators*. 1: 21-35.
- ³⁷ Costanza, R., 1992. Toward an operational definition of ecosystem health. In Constanza, R Norton, B. and Haskell, B. (eds.). *Ecosystem Health: New Goals for Environmental Management*. Island Press, Washington.
- ³⁸ Smith M.J., Storey A.W. (eds), 2001. Design and Implementation of Baseline Monitoring (DIBM3): Developing an Ecosystem Health Monitoring Program for Rivers and Streams in Southeast Queensland. Report to the South East Queensland Regional Water Quality Management Strategy, Brisbane.

- ³⁹ New South Wales Department of Environment, Climate Change and Water, 2005. Native Vegetation Regulation 2005 Environmental Outcomes Assessment Methodology. http://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/resources/vegetation/10727EOAM.pdf
- ⁴⁰ Feld, C.K., Sousa, J.P., da Silva., P.M. and Dawson, T.P., 2010. Indicators for biodiversity and ecosystem services: towards an improved framework for ecosystem assessment. *Biodiversity Conservation*, 19: 2895-2919
- ⁴¹ Karr, J.R., 1991. Biological integrity: a long-neglected aspect of water resource management. *Ecological Applications*, 1: 66–84.
- ⁴² Wright, J. F., Moss, D., Armitage, P.D. & Furse, M.T., 1984. A preliminary classification of runningwater sites in Great Britain based on macro-invertebrate species and the prediction of community type using environmental data. *Freshwater Biology*, 14: 221–256.
- ⁴³ Andersen, J.H., Conley, D.J. and Hedal, S., 2004. Palaeoecology, reference conditions and classification of ecological status: the EU Water Framework Directive in practice. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 49: 283–290.
- ⁴⁴ Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for Community action in the field of water policy. Official Journal of the European Communities L 327, Brussels.
- ⁴⁵ Tett, P., Carreira, C., Mills, D.K., Leeuwen, S.van., Foden, J., Bresnan, E. and Gowen, R.J., 2008. Use of a phytoplankton community index to assess the health of coastal waters. – ICES *Journal of Marine Science*, 65: 1475-1482.
- ⁴⁶ Rheinhardt, R., Brinson, M., Brooks, R., McKenney-Easterling, M., Rubbo, J.M., Hite, J., Armstrong, B., 2007. Development of a reference-based method for identifying and scoring indicators of condition for coastal plain riparian reaches. *Ecological Indicators*, 7: 339–361.
- ⁴⁷ Swetnam, T.W., Allen, C.D., Betancourt, J.L., 1999. Applied historical ecology: using the past to manage for the future. *Ecological Applications*, 9: 1189–1206.
- ⁴⁸ Parkes, D., Newell, G., Cheal, D., 2003. Assessing the quality of native vegetation: the 'habitat hectares' approach. *Ecological Management and Restoration*, 4: S29–S38.
- ⁴⁹ Boer, M. and J. Puigdefabregas, 2003. Predicting potential vegetation index values as a reference for the assessment and monitoring of dryland conditions. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 24: 1135-1141.
- ⁵⁰ Nielsen, S.E., Bayne, E.M., Schieck, J., Herbers, J. and Boutin, S., 2007. A new method to estimate species and biodiversity intactness using empirically derived reference conditions. *Biological Conservation*, 137: 403–415.
- ⁵¹ Pandolfi, J.M., Bradbury, R.H., Sala, E., Hughes, T.P., Bjorndal, K.A., Cooke, R.G., McArdle, D., McClenachan, L., Newman, M.J.H., Paredes, G., Warner, R.R., Jackson, J.B.C., 2003. Global trajectories of the long-term decline of coral reef ecosystems. *Science*, 301: 955–958.
- ⁵² Worm, B., Hilborn,R., Baum, J.K., Branch, T.A.Collie, J.S., Costello, Fogarty, M.J., Fulton, E.A., Hutchings, J.A, Jennings, S., Jensen, O.P., Lotze, H.K., Mace, P.M., McClanahan, T.R., Minto, C., Palumbi, S.R., Parma, A.M., Ricard, D., Rosenberg, A.A., Watson, R. and D. Zeller, 2009. Rebuilding Global Fisheries. *Science*, 325: 578.
- ⁵³ Kruse, G.H., Ishida, Y. and C.I.Zhang. Rebuilding of depleted fish stocks through an ecosystem approach to fisheries. *Fisheries Research*, 100: 1–5.
- ⁵⁴ Australian Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry, 2007. Commonwealth Fisheries Harvest Strategy – Policy and Guidelines.
- ⁵⁵ R.C. Nijboer, R.K. Johnson, P.F.M. Verdonschot, M. Sommerhäuser and A. Buffagni, 2004. Establishing reference conditions for European streams. *Hydrobiologia*, 516(1): 9-105.
- ⁵⁶ European Commission (DG Environment). Water Note 7 Intercalibration: A common scale for Europe's waters. Water Notes on the Implementation of the Water Framework Directive.
- ⁵⁷ Breure, A.M., Mulder, C.M., Ro¨mbke, J., 2005. Ecological classification and assessment concepts in soil protection. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf*, 62: 211–229.
- ⁵⁸ Built on the methodologies of: Wright, J.F., Moss, D., Armitage, P.D. & Furse, M.T., 1984. A preliminary classification of running-water sites in Great Britain based on macroinvertebrate species and the prediction of community type using environmental data. *Freshwater Biology*,

14: 221-256, Moss, D., M.T. Furse, J.F. Wright, and P.D. Armitage, 1987. The prediction of the macro-invertebrate fauna of unpolluted running-water sites in Great Britain using environmental data. *Freshwater Biology*. 17: 41-52, and Wright, J.F. 1995. Development and use of a system for predicting macroinvertebrates in flowing waters. *Australian Journal of Ecology*, 20:181-197.

- ⁵⁹ Environment Canada. 2004. www.ec.gc.ca/rcba cabin/default.asp?lang=En&n=D70D3175-1
- ⁶⁰ Karr, J.R., 1981. Assessment of biotic integrity using fish communities. *Fisheries*, 6: 21-27.
- ⁶¹ http://www.epa.gov/bioiweb1/html/multimetric.html
- ⁶² Inter-American Tropical Tuna Commission, 2010. Tunas and Billfishes in the Eastern Pacific Ocean in 2008. Fisheries Status Report No. 7.
- ⁶³ Simpson, J.C. and Norris, R.H., 2000. Biological assessment of river quality: development of AUSRIVAS models and outputs. Assessing the biological quality of fresh waters: RIVPACS and other techniques. 125-142.
- ⁶⁴ Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, 2009. Great Barrier Reef Outlook Report, 2009. Australian Government, Townsville.
- ⁶⁵ Gibbons, P., Ayers, D., Seddon, J., Doyle, S. and S Briggs. 2005. BioMetric Version 1.8. A Terrestrial Biodiversity Assessment Tool for the NSW Property Vegetation Plan Developer. Operational Manual. New South Wales Department of Environment and Conservation.
- ⁶⁶ Rapport, D. J., Costanza, R. and McMichael, A. J., 1998. Assessing ecosystem health. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 13(10): 397-402.
- ⁶⁷ UN Statistical Division. 2007.System of Environmental-Economic Accounting for Water. Prepared by United Nations Statistics Division upon recommendation by the UN Committee of Experts on Environmental-Economic Accounting. Chapter 7.
- ⁶⁸ Alfieri, Havinga and Webb, 2010. Integrating the Economic and Ecosystem Approaches to the Environment in the Revised SEEA. Paper prepared for the Fifth Meeting of the UN Committee of Experts on Environmental-Economic Accounting, New York June 2010. p11.
- ⁶⁹ Internationally, examples include the 2005 UN Millennium Assessment; the 2007 UNEP Global Environmental Outlook; and the 2010 World Bank World Development Report: Development and Climate Change.
- ⁷⁰ In Australia, examples include national State of the Environment Reports in 1996, 2001, 2006, and 2011; the 2001 National Land and Water Resources Audit; and the Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2008. *Australia's Environment: Issues and Trends 2007.*
- ⁷¹ Asner, G. P., Palace, M., Keller, M., Pereirs Jr., R., Silva, J. N. M. and Zweede, J. C., 2002. Estimating canopy structure in an Amazon forest from laser range finder and IKONOS satellite observations. *Biotropica*, 34: 483-492.
- ⁷² G. P. Asner, G. V. N. Powell, J. Mascaro, D. E. Knapp, J. K. Clark, J. Jacobson, T. Kennedy-Bowdoin, A. Balaji, G. Paez-Acosta, E. Victoria, L. Secada, M. Valqui, R. F. Hughes, 2010. High-resolution forest carbon stocks and emissions in the Amazon. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107 (38): 16738-16742.